

2nd Edition

# Housetraining





Prepare your home for housetraining

Utilize the most effective techniques and equipment

Housetrain your dog at any age or stage

#### Susan McCullough

Author of Beagles For Dummies and Senior Dogs For Dummies



## Housetraining

2nd Edition

#### by Susan McCullough



#### Housetraining For Dummies®, 2nd Edition

Published by: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2019 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

**Trademarks:** Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc., and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE, FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877–762–2974, outside the U.S. at 317–572–3993, or fax 317–572–4002. For technical support, please visit www.wiley.com/techsupport.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2019944086

ISBN 978-1-119-61029-8 (pbk); ISBN 978-1-119-61032-8 (ebk); ISBN 978-1-119-61028-1 (ebk)

Manufactured in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

## **Contents at a Glance**

Introd	uction	1
Part 1:	Preparing to Potty Train Your Pooch	7
	No, Virginia, It's Not That Hard: Understanding	
	Housetraining Basics	9
CHAPTER 2:	Training the Housetrainer: Taking the Right Approach1	7
CHAPTER 3:	Getting Your Home in Housetraining Order	37
CHAPTER 4:	Feeding Fido: What Goes In Must Come Out	9
Part 2:	Putting a Plan in Place	31
CHAPTER 5:	Training to Love the Crate	3
CHAPTER 6:	Heading to the Outside: Outdoor Housetraining	)5
CHAPTER 7:	Making Some Inside Moves: Indoor Housetraining11	1
CHAPTER 8:	Fine-Tuning Housetraining12	<u>'</u> 9
Part 3:	Solving Housetraining Problems14	13
CHAPTER 9:	Accident-Proofing Small Dogs and Other Problem Potty-ers14	ŀ5
CHAPTER 10:	Understanding How an Oh-No Can Become a Problem-o16	51
CHAPTER 11:	Sorting Out Humans' Housetraining Challenges17	′5
Part 4:	The Part of Tens19	)1
CHAPTER 12:	Ten Housetraining Mistakes You Don't Have to Make19	)3
CHAPTER 13:	Ten Reasons Housetrained Dogs Live in Happier Households20	)1
Appen	dix: Other Helpful Pit Stops	
	usetrainers20	)7
Index	21	3

## **Table of Contents**

INTRO	DUCTION	. 1
	About This Book	. 1
	Conventions Used in This Book	. 2
	What You're Not to Read	. 3
	Foolish Assumptions	. 4
	How This Book Is Organized	
	Part 1: Preparing to Potty Train Your Pooch	. 5
	Part 2: Putting a Plan in Place	. 5
	Part 3: Solving Housetraining Problems	
	Part 4: The Part of Tens	. 5
	Appendix	
	Icons Used in This Book	
	Where to Go From Here	. 6
PART 1	: PREPARING TO POTTY TRAIN YOUR POOCH	. 7
CHAPTER 1:	No, Virginia, It's Not That Hard:	
	Understanding Housetraining Basics	
	What Housetraining Is — and Why It Matters	
	Why Your Dog Can't Be "a Little Bit Housetrained"	
	Exploring Housetraining Methods	12
	Location, location, location: Outdoor versus indoor training	1 2
	Looking at lifestyle factors to help you choose	12
	your method	14
	Surviving Setbacks and Special Situations	15
	Understanding the Role You and Your Family Play	
	<b>-</b> • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
CHAPTER 2:	Training the Housetrainer:	
	Taking the Right Approach	17
	Leaving behind Housetraining Methods of Yesteryear	
	Using Your Pooch's Instincts to Lay a Foundation	
	The training your dog has already had	
	Learning from his mom	
	Denning dynamics	
	Cleanliness is next to dog-liness	
	Life without guilt	24

	Learning by repetition	25
	The need for attachment	26
	How instincts can be thwarted	26
	Taking the 21st-Century Approach to Housetraining	29
	Seeing your dog's point of view	30
	Being benevolent	31
	Working with your dog's instincts	31
	Creating a schedule	32
	Rewarding the good, ignoring the goofs	32
	Being consistent	34
	Attending to details	35
CHAPTER 3:	Getting Your Home in Housetraining Order	37
CHAPTER 3.	Readying Your Dog's Room: The Crate	
	Understanding why every dog needs (and wants) a crate	
	Finding the right fit: Types of crates	
	Adjusting for size	
	Investing in crate accessories	
	Situating your doggie's den	
	Gearing Up for Outdoor Training	
	Selecting a potty spot — no matter where you live	
	Securing collars and leashes	
	Containing the situation: Fencing	
	Installing a doggie door	
	Prepping for Indoor Training	
	Exploring types of indoor potties	
	Setting up your dog's indoor living area and potty spot	
	Doing the Dirty Work: Cleanup Equipment	
	Choosing an outdoor cleanup method	
	Indoor cleaners	
	Other cleaning aids	57
CHAPTER 4:	Feeding Fido: What Goes In Must Come Out	50
CHAPTER 4:	Knowing How Feeding and Watering Affect Housetraining	
	Understanding Nutrients: What Dogs Need to Eat	
	Proteins	
	Fats	
	Vitamins and minerals	
	Determining the Diet That's Best for Your Dog	
	Considering commercial dog foods	
	Making home-prepped dog foods	
	INDICATE PROPERTY OF TOTAL PROPERTY OF THE PRO	00

	Serving Your Dog	
	Picking the place to feed your dog	69
	Setting the canine dining ambience	70
	Selecting your dog's dinnerware	
	Deciding when to feed your dog	72
	To Treat or Not to Treat	74
	Buying commercial treats	76
	Preparing homemade treats	77
	Choosing low-calorie treat options	78
	Working with Your Dog's Drinking Habits	80
PART 2	: PUTTING A PLAN IN PLACE	81
CHAPTER 5:	Training to Love the Crate	83
	Introducing the Crate	84
	Tie one on: The open-door policy	84
	Encourage exploration	84
	Shut the door (but not for long)	86
	Leave the room	86
	Build up her tolerance	
	Encouraging Appreciation If Your Dog Hates the Crate	
	Limiting Crate Time: How Much Is Too Much?	
	Continuing to Use the Crate	
	Keeping the love alive	
	Beyond housetraining: Other uses for the crate	93
CHAPTER 6:	Heading to the Outside:	
	Outdoor Housetraining	95
	Understanding How Outdoor Training Works	96
	Introducing Puppies to Outdoor Training	96
	Getting an early start	97
	Taking the first trips outside	97
	Responding when your puppy potties	
	A matter of timing: Setting up a puppy potty schedule	100
	Scheduling Outdoor Training for Adult Dogs	104
	Dealing with Boo-Boos	
	Catching your dog in the act	
	Finding messes: Don't scold — just clean 'em up!	105
	Preventing further accidents	106
	Providing Indoor Potty Areas for Outdoor Trainees	107

CHAPTER 7:	Making Some Inside Moves:	
	Indoor Housetraining	111
	Understanding How Indoor Training Works	111
	Identifying good indoor-training candidates	
	Opting for indoor training only	
	Pick Your Potty: Deciding Which Type to Use	114
	Newspapers	115
	Puppy training pads	
	Litter boxes	116
	Grate/tray potties	
	Introducing Puppies to Indoor Training	
	Deciding where to put the indoor potty	
	Starting out	
	Scheduling bathroom breaks	
	Switching a vaccinated puppy to outdoor training	
	Using Indoor Training for the Adult Dog	
	From outdoors to papers	
	From outdoors to litter box	
	From outdoors to grate/tray combo	
	Responding to Mistakes	128
CHAPTER 8:	Fine-Tuning Housetraining	129
	Decoding Pre-Potty Maneuvers	
	Getting Your Dog to Ask to Go Out	
	Encouraging Elimination	
	Peeing on cue	
	Prompting Mr. (or Ms.) Independent	
	Deciding When to Grant More Freedom	139
	The age factor: How old is old enough?	140
	The responsibility factor: Should she have freedom	
	of the house?	140
PART 3	:: SOLVING HOUSETRAINING PROBLEMS	143
CHAPTER 9:	Accident-Proofing Small Dogs	
	and Other Problem Potty-ers	145
	The Teensy-Weensy Tinkler	
	Choose the right potty place	
	Don't push your luck (or her bladder)	
	Don't excuse lapses	

	The Dog Who Pees Lying Down	148
	Play it cool	148
	Get down to her level	149
	Don't stare her down	
	The Dog Who Leaves His Mark	150
	Neuter him	
	Remove (or at least contain) the target	150
	Remind him who's top dog	151
	Build a peaceable kingdom	151
	Start remedial housetraining	152
	The Uptight Canine	152
	The Dog Who Wants a New Bathroom	155
	The Dog Who Gets Distracted	155
	The Fair-Weather Piddler	156
	The Bedwetter	157
	The Dog Who Gets Amnesia	157
	The Dog Who Can't Hold It	158
	Rule out other issues	158
	Find a holistic vet	158
	Consider diapers	159
	The Poop Eater	
	The Bleeding Lady, or the Canine Fertility Goddess	160
	Hadayatan dina Hayyan Ob Na Can	
CHAPTER 10:	Understanding How an Oh-No Can	
	Become a Problem-o	161
	A Whiz of a Problem	162
	Constant peeing	162
	Constant drinking and constant peeing	163
	Pee that comes out slowly or not at all	164
	Oddly colored pee	165
	The Scoop on Poop Problems	165
	Poop on the run(s)	165
	Soft, stinky poop	167
	Oily poop	167
	Poop that comes out slowly or not at all	
	Poop that contains other things	
	Gray, black, or red poop	170
	Skinny poop	
	Gaseous Emissions	

CHAPTER 11: Sorting Out Humans' Housetraining
<b>Challenges</b> 175
Crafting a Family Housetraining Plan176
Dividing duties: A plan to relieve the primary caregiver176
Getting the adults on the same page177
Getting the kids on board178
Balancing Crate Time179
Relieving the Home-Alone Dog180
Getting a pet-sitter or dog walker18
Bringing your dog to work18
Going home for lunch182
Working from home182
Creating a potty-proof home-alone area182
Sticking to the Schedule
Managing Snacks
Messing Up the Cleanup
Anticipating Lapses Due to Household Changes
Helping the Newly Adopted Housetrainee187 Hitting the Road with Your Housetraining Graduate189
Hitting the Road with Your Housetraining Graduate
PART 4: THE PART OF TENS19
CHAPTER 12: Ten Housetraining Mistakes
You Don't Have to Make193
Thinking the Crate Is Cruel193
Getting a Crate That's Too Big194
Failing to Stick to the Schedule195
Failing to Clean Up Completely196
Not Cleaning the Indoor Potty196
Thinking Your Dog Looks Guilty197
Scolding Her after the Fact198
Rubbing His Nose in You-Know-What198
Changing the Menu Abruptly199
Declaring Victory Prematurely200
CHAPTER 13: Ten Reasons Housetrained Dogs
Live in Happier Households20
The Houses Smell Nicer20
The Owners Save Money202
The Owners Are Less Cranky202

	The Dogs Aren't Scared When Their Owners Come Home	202
	The Owners Don't Worry about Stepping in You-Know-What	203
	The Dogs Have One Less Way to Embarrass Their Owners	204
	The Owners Know Right Away When Their Dogs Are Sick	204
	The Dogs Have a Great Foundation for Further Training	205
	Dogs and Owners Communicate Better with Each Other	205
	The Owners Are More Likely to Keep Their Dogs	206
	DIX: OTHER HELPFUL PIT STOPS	
FOR H	OUSETRAINERS	207
	Go Online	207
	Book 'Em!	
	Flip through These Mags	210
INDFX		213

#### Introduction

hen you brought home that adorable little puppy or noble-looking adult dog, you undoubtedly were looking forward to a lifetime of love, devotion, and companionship. Maybe you wanted a dog to jog with in the morning, have curl up at your feet in the evening, or talk to during the day. Perhaps you were looking forward to heaping lots of unconditional love upon a hard-luck rescue dog who hadn't known such love before. Or maybe you remembered watching *Lassie* when you were a kid and were hoping that your new family member could be the same sort of friend-of-a-lifetime that the famous Collie was for little Timmy.

Every new relationship between a person and a dog starts out with at least a little bit of fantasizing on the part of the person. Soon thereafter, though, reality intrudes upon those fantasies. All too often, that intrusion takes the form of a puddle or pile deposited on the floor of your home. The puddle is gross. The pile stinks. Both leave stains. And you are totally grossed out.

Loving a pooch who turns your nicely decorated home into a canine outhouse is tough. But this problem doesn't have to happen. You just need to teach your dog proper potty manners. In other words, you need to housetrain him.

When your dog is housetrained, both of your lives become a whole lot easier and immeasurably more satisfying. Gone are the doggie accidents, stains, and smells that keep professional carpet cleaners in business but all too often ruin the precious bonds between dogs and their people. I've written this book to make sure that you and your dog maintain those bonds.

#### **About This Book**

Housetraining For Dummies, 2nd Edition, is a reference book designed to help you not only teach your dog the ins and outs of basic bathroom behavior but also prevent your pooch from developing potty problems — or solve any problems she already has.

Whether you have a brand-new puppy who's piddling on your equally new Oriental rug; an unruly adolescent male dog who's practicing leg-lifts (and subsequent anointings) right next to your antique loveseat; a matronly female dog who's wetting her bed while she sleeps; or simply a pooch who never seems to know what he's supposed to do when you take him out, this book can help you sort out your dog's bathroom issues and resolve them, no matter what they are.

You don't have to read this book from start to finish to teach your canine companion proper potty deportment. If you want to know everything and then some about housetraining, begin reading here and plow through to the end. But if you have a specific concern, such as wanting to teach your dog to tell you when she needs to go out, skip the preliminaries, look over the table of contents, and proceed to the chapter that tells you exactly what you want to know.

Finally, this book is meant to be a guide but not a substitute for the up-close-and-personal advice that other experts such as veterinarians, trainers, and behaviorists give. If the suggestions here don't work for you and your dog, or if you have a question that this book doesn't cover, don't hesitate to contact any of these professionals.

#### **Conventions Used in This Book**

To help you find your way through this book — as in all *For Dummies* books — I've used the following conventions:

- >> Italics highlight new words and terms.
- **>> Boldfaced** text indicates the actions in numbered steps and keywords in bulleted lists.
- >> Monofont indicates a web address.

In addition, I've added some conventions of my own. For one thing, I'm not even going to try to sound genteel in this book — after all, you're dealing with bodily waste here. That's why I refer to canine bodily byproducts as *poop* and *pee* — although I occasionally substitute other terms just for the sake of variety.

At the same time, I refrain from using other terms commonly employed in discussions of pooch potty protocol. Specifically, I don't use the words housebreak, housebreaking, or housebroken anywhere in this book, except when I describe the history of canine toilet training. That's because when you teach your dogs to eliminate appropriately, you're not breaking anything. In fact, you're doing quite the opposite: By teaching the dog to poop and pee when and where you want him to, you're building bonds between you two. You're laying the foundation for a loving, long-lasting relationship.

Finally, there's the matter of gender. Many writers like to refer to canine companions in gender-neutral terms such as *it* unless discussing a specific dog, such as Daisy or Max. But I don't agree with them. Any dog, even if spayed or neutered, has a clear gender. More importantly, every dog is a living being who deserves the dignity of being referred to as such. For that reason, I use the word *who*, not *that*, along with *he*, *she*, *him*, *her*, *his*, and *hers* to refer to canine companions. I tend to alternate the genders of the example dogs in a chapter, so any of those pronouns (or a name such as Fido or Lassie) applies to dogs of either gender unless I indicate otherwise.

#### What You're Not to Read

I'd be thrilled if you were to read every word of this book, but I know better. You're like me: way too busy, with far too little time to accomplish everything on your daily to-do list. Plus, you want to know as soon as possible how to keep your floors and furniture from becoming a doggie latrine. To help you differentiate between what you need to know and what you can do without, I've made the do-without stuff easy for you to spot. That stuff includes the following:

>> Sidebars: These shaded boxes contain anecdotes or interesting bits of information that can make housetraining easier and more effective, but if you skip them and apply the suggestions in the main text, you'll still have a pooch who knows when and where he's supposed to potty.

- >> Text next to the Technical Stuff icon: Information located next to this icon is interesting, but it may go into far more detail about housetraining than you need for teaching your dog her bathroom basics.
- >> Legal stuff: Otherwise known as the material on the copyright page, the text here is of interest mainly to Wiley's legal eagles. Even if you're interested in copyright law, I guarantee that you can find more information on the subject elsewhere.

#### **Foolish Assumptions**

I've written this book assuming that one of the following scenarios applies to you and your dog:

- >> You're about to get a new puppy or have just gotten one and want to teach her proper potty protocol as quickly and effectively as possible.
- >> Your puppy or adult dog has never quite mastered that protocol, and you want to know how to transform him from bathroom bungler to housetraining ace.
- >> Your once well-housetrained dog appears to have developed some bathroom issues, and you want to know how to solve those problems instead of just having to live with them.

If you and your canine companion fit into any of the preceding categories, this book is for you.

#### **How This Book Is Organized**

This book can give you the full scoop on making the housetraining process as hassle-free as possible. If you read any part of *Housetraining For Dummies*, you can gain valuable insights on how to teach your puppy or adult dog to do his business where and when you want him to. Here's how I've organized the book to help you do just that.

### Part 1: Preparing to Potty Train Your Pooch

Before you can housetrain your hound, you need to get yourself ready to do so. Therefore, this part explains the basic principles of canine learning in general and of housetraining in particular. Here, too, is where you get the info you need to decide where you want your dog's bathroom to be: inside or outside your home. You also get the lowdown on what equipment you need to teach your dog proper potty protocol. Finally, you discover how not only to jump-start your dog's housetraining progress but also to give her a leg up on lifelong good health by feeding her the right kinds of foods.

#### Part 2: Putting a Plan in Place

Now that you've made some basic decisions, gotten a primer on housetraining theory, acquired the right housetraining gear, and stocked up on gourmet doggie fare, you're ready to start the housetraining process in earnest. Part 2 tells you all you need to know to turn your housetrainee into a housetraining graduate, whether you opt for indoor training or choose to have your pooch potty in the great outdoors. You also discover some techniques that can make managing your dog's bathroom maneuvers infinitely easier and determine when you can consider your hound a true housetraining ace.

#### **Part 3: Solving Housetraining Problems**

Alas, even the solidly housetrained dog can acquire potty problems. Some of those problems require remedial housetraining, others may actually be signs of illness, and still others may reflect human mistakes, not the dog's. Part 3 helps you determine what kind of problem your dog really has (and that problem, for some dogs, is simply that they're very small) and what you need to do to solve it.

#### Part 4: The Part of Tens

Part 4 is where I introduce some top-ten lists and have even more fun discussing housetraining than I do in the preceding three parts. In the process, I emphasize some important housetraining principles. And if, for some reason, you're wondering whether housetraining is worth the trouble, this part — specifically Chapter 13 — gives you the incentive you need to keep plugging away.

#### **Appendix**

If you're interested in getting more information about housetraining and other aspects of dog care, I've included an appendix full of resources after Chapter 13.

#### Icons Used in This Book

To make this book simpler to use, I've included some icons to help you find and fathom key ideas and information.



This icon calls attention to time- and hassle-saving ideas or items that are especially helpful when housetraining your dog.





This icon denotes information that's so critical to successful housetraining that you should read it more than once — just to ensure that you remember it as you potty-train your own pooch.



This icon flags dangers to your dog's well-being. It also lets you know when an apparent housetraining problem is really a medical problem that demands a veterinarian's attention.

WARNING

TECHNICAL

Perhaps you want the full scoop on why dens are such a big part of most dogs' lives or how dogs use their pee to communicate with each other. This icon flags such nonessential information for you. On the other hand, if you just want to understand the basic concepts of housetraining, sidestep this icon and move on.

#### Where to Go From Here

If you haven't acquired your dog yet, or if she's just arrived, reading from the very beginning of this book and working your way through to the end is best. But if your canine companion has been with you for a while, or if you're just trying to solve a particular pooch potty problem, don't fret. Head to the table of contents or to the index, where you can find the topic that can help solve your dog's specific housetraining problems.

# Preparing to Potty Train Your Pooch

#### IN THIS PART ...

Before you can housetrain your dog, you need to prepare yourself for the task. In this part, you find out how to do just that, starting with understanding exactly what housetraining is. From there, you discover the importance of working with your dog's instincts to teach him basic bathroom manners, and you get some help deciding where your dog's bathroom should be, whether indoors or outdoors. Finally, you get a shopping list of what you need to housetrain your hound effectively and of what to feed him so you not only make the housetraining process easier but also safeguard his overall health and well-being.

- » Defining housetraining
- » Understanding why housetraining is important
- » Discovering two ways to housetrain
- » Dealing with the unexpected
- » Clarifying the housetrainer's role

## Chapter $oldsymbol{1}$

## No, Virginia, It's Not That Hard: Understanding Housetraining Basics

ax, a 10-week-old Beagle, is delighting his new owner with his puppy antics but is dismaying her with his penchant for peeing all over her recently installed carpet. No matter how recently he tinkled outside, he always seems to have something left over with which to tinkle on the floor covering.

Allie, a 6-year-old Golden Retriever, would never pee on anyone's carpet. Her people can count on her to do her business three or four times a day: first thing in the morning, early in the afternoon, in the late afternoon (sometimes), and in the evening before she retires for the night. On the rare occasions that she needs an extra bathroom break, she lets her people know by heading to the back door and scratching it — or if her tummy is giving her trouble, by waking up one of her people to get her outside in time to avoid an accident.

Cody, a 3-year-old Chihuahua, can hold his water pretty well — sometimes. Other times, though, he seems to suffer from bathroom-manners amnesia or a sudden preference for taking a whiz any place except where he's supposed to.

Which of these dogs is housetrained? Which ones aren't? In this chapter, you not only find the answer to those two questions but also discover why housetraining plays such an important role in whether you and your dog can live happily ever after.

## What Housetraining Is — and Why It Matters

To know whether your dog is really housetrained, you need to understand exactly what housetraining is. Unfortunately, most dictionaries aren't all that helpful here. For example, the *Random House Dictionary* offers a two-word definition: "to housebreak." That doesn't tell you much — after all, you're not teaching your dog to break anything! The *American Heritage Dictionary* offers the same terse definition, although it does add that the term is primarily British.



No matter where the term *housetraining* originates, defining it still requires precision and directness. Simply put, *housetraining* is the process in which you teach your dog to eliminate when you want him to and where you want him to — and to refrain from eliminating at any other time or place.

That definition doesn't allow much room for errors or lapses. And clearly, when measured against those criteria, a dog who consistently does his duty outdoors or in a designated indoor area is fully housetrained. That's not the case, though, with a dog who usually tinkles outdoors, never tinkles outdoors, or only occasionally tinkles outdoors (or performs with similar levels of consistency in a predetermined indoor Bowser bathroom). Housetraining is one of those all-or-nothing cases. That being the case, Allie is the only dog in the chapter intro whom you can consider truly housetrained.

Why does such precision matter? Simple: An otherwise well-behaved, healthy dog who doesn't know proper pooch potty protocol is much more likely to lose her home than a similar dog who knows her bathroom basics. No human being likes to have his home turned into a multiroom canine toilet — and if such a human can't teach his dog to take her bathroom business elsewhere, that dog is likely to find herself going elsewhere.

## Why Your Dog Can't Be "a Little Bit Housetrained"

Housetraining is an either-or proposition: Either a dog is house-trained, or she isn't. To say that a dog is "partially trained" or "a little bit housetrained" is like saying that a woman is "partially pregnant" or "a little bit pregnant." None of those terms compute.



If you consider your dog to be "a little bit housetrained," you're really saying that he hasn't completely learned proper bathroom manners yet. That means you can't really rely on him to go to the bathroom only where and when you want him to.

Until your dog is totally housetrained, you always face the chance that Lassie will decide to use your brand new area rug as her toilet or that Laddie will choose to anoint your mother-in-law's prized Chippendale chair. And of course, for some dogs, especially puppies, those chances are way better than even. That's certainly the case with Max, the young Beagle from the chapter intro who's been using that new carpet as his own personal potty.

But owners of adult dogs like Cody, the Chihuahua who's occasionally leaving unwelcome puddles throughout his owner's abode, also cope with unreliable canines. Cody appears to have forgotten the lessons in bathroom manners his owner taught him years ago — or perhaps he never quite understood those lessons in the first place. Chapter 9 describes typical cases of pooches who appear to have forgotten the fine art of proper canine bathroom behavior. Or maybe Cody doesn't feel well. Chapter 10 focuses on why a pooch may pee or poop inappropriately — and what owners can do to solve such problems.

But for now, it's fair to say that although housetraining is an either-or proposition, there's definitely more than one way to teach a dog proper potty behavior. Before you start, though, you need to get yourself and your household ready for the task. Chapter 2 helps you prepare by giving you a primer on canine instincts and on how to capitalize on those instincts to help your dog become a happy housetrainee. Chapter 3 focuses on equipping you, your home, and your dog to ensure housetraining success. And Chapter 4 hones in on a crucial component of the housetraining process: food. After all, what goes in your dog must eventually come out, in one form or another!